
MINUTES OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
November 24, 2008 

 
 
The regular meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore 
at 7:02 p.m. at the Village Hall. 
 
Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, William Cotey, Kurt Hezner, Terry Howard, Howard 
Jaffe, Walter Oakley, and Andy Robinson. 
 
Members absent:  None. 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
Village Staff present: John Spoden; Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 
Planner; and Pat Sheeran, Project Engineer. 
 
Board Member Howard moved, seconded by Board Member Oakley, to approve the October 27, 
2008, Zoning Board of Appeals meeting minutes. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
ZBA 07-47 Graham Enterprises, Inc., Applicant 

109 S. Milwaukee Avenue 
 

Request is for variations to: 1) increase the maximum allowed number of business signs 
from 2 to 23 in order to replace certain business signs and logos for a gas station and 
mini-mart; 2) increase the maximum allowed gross surface area for business signs from 
92.5 square feet to approximately 222.125 square feet in order to replace certain 
business signs and logos for a gas station, automatic car wash, and mini-mart; and 3) 
reduce the minimum required setback for a freestanding sign from 5 feet to 
approximately 3.5 feet in order to replace a freestanding sign with an improved three-
sided electronic price sign for a gas station, automatic car wash, and mini-mart in a C-
2, Downtown Community Commercial District. 

 
Chairman Moore recused himself due to conflict of interest with the petitioner. 
 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that the applicant was before them at their January 28, 2008 
meeting and again at their June 23, 2008, meetings requesting certain sign variations in order to 
replace Citgo signage with Shell and Maverick branding signage for a gas station, automatic 
carwash, and mini-mart, in a C-2 Downtown Community Commercial District for the gasoline 
station located at 109 S. Milwaukee Avenue. 



Minutes of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 2 of 7 
 
Mr. Smith stated that during the course of the public hearings, the Zoning Board of Appeals made 
motions to continue the requested sign variations to subsequent meetings in order to provide the 
petitioner an opportunity to revise their plans in response to the Staff review comments and 
expressed concerns of the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 
Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner has revised the sign plans and has reduced the number and the 
gross surface sign area from what was previously requested. 
 
Mr. Terry Weppler, representative for the petitioner, stated that they have adjusted the site plan and 
have moved the proposed Shell ID freestanding sing out of the vision triangle next to the Milwaukee 
Avenue and Park Avenue right-of-way intersection.  He stated that they have also eliminated the 
freestanding car wash sign along the south property line of the subject property. 
 
Board Member Howard stated that the intersection of Milwaukee Avenue and Park Avenue is a 
dangerous intersection to cross for bicycles and pedestrians.  He stated that he cannot in good 
conscience, without knowing the potential conflicts, support this request.  He stated that the 
permitted vehicle right turn on red from eastbound Park Avenue traffic onto southbound Milwaukee 
Avenue is especially hazardous.  He stated that the proposed pump topper signs and the ‘L’ bracket 
signs on top of the pumps should both constitute separate signs and counted as such and that the 
gross sign area should be adjusted accordingly. 
 
Board Member Jaffe asked if the petitioner will ever consider upgrading the pump topper signage to 
a video display device.  Mr. John Graham, petitioner, stated that he is not considering the video 
display devices at this time. 
 
Board Member Jaffe asked if the petitioner is would consider changing the convenience mart 
signage.  Mr. Graham stated that they may change the signage over the doors of the convenience 
mart. 
 
Board Member Cotey asked if the proposed three-sided sign will encroach into the trees on the 
landscaped island.  Mr. Weppler stated that the landscaped island does not have any trees within the 
Site Distance Triangle. 
 
Board Member Hezner stated that the pump topper sign count should be revised to be 16 total pump 
toppers.  He stated that he does not have an issue with the questionable encroachment into the Site 
Distance Triangle.  He asked what the petitioner would like for the Zoning Board of Appeals to do 
tonight.  Mr. Weppler asked that the Zoning Board of Appeals render their recommendation for the 
requested sign variations. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 07-47.1), Board Member Jaffe moved, seconded by Board Member Robinson, to 
recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to increase the maximum allowed 
number of business signs from 2 to 23 in order to replace certain business signs and logos for a gas 
station and mini-mart in a C-2, Downtown Community Commercial District, subject to the following  



Minutes of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 3 of 7 
 
conditions:  1) The petitioner submit a revise landscape plan that complies with the Zoning Code for 
the minimum required landscaping at the base of the free standing business sign; and; 2) The pump 
topper signs do not exceed 16 total. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 07-47.2), Board Member Oakley moved, seconded by Board Member Robinson, 
to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to increase the maximum allowed 
gross surface area for business signs from 92.5 square feet to approximately 222.125 square feet in 
order to replace certain business signs and logos for a gas station, automatic car wash, and mini-
mart in a C-2, Downtown Community Commercial District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 07-47.3), Board Member Howard moved, seconded by Board Member 
Robinson, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to reduce the minimum 
required setback for a freestanding sign from 5 feet to approximately 3.5 feet in order to replace a 
freestanding sign with an improved three-sided electronic price sign for a gas station, automatic car 
wash, and mini-mart in a C-2, Downtown Community Commercial District, in accordance with the 
plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 4 - 2. 
 
Ayes:  Hezner, Jaffe, Oakley, Robinson 
Nays:  Cotey, Howard 
Absent: None 
 
ZBA 08-23 Elena Shapiro, Rockland Project, LLC, Applicant 
  114 Rockland Road 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped 

Open Space in order to construct an office building with accessory parking in a C-3, 
General Commercial District. 

 
ZBA 08-24 Elena Shapiro, Rockland Project, LLC, Applicant 
  114 Rockland Road 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required number of parking spaces in 

order to construct an office building with accessory parking in a C-3, General 
Commercial District. 

 
The applicant requested that these items be continued to the December 15, 2008, Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 



Minutes of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 4 of 7 
 
In the matters of ZBA 08-23 and ZBA 08-24, Board Member Jaffe moved, seconded by Board 
Member Hezner, to continue these items to the December 15, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals 
meeting. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ZBA 08-18 Gilfillan Callahan Nelson Architects, Authorized Agent for Cook Memorial 

Public Library District 
  413 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped 

Open Space from 25 feet to 6 feet along the Cook Avenue right of way property line for 
the building, 10 feet from the Brainerd Avenue right-of-way property line for the 
building and 6 feet for the reconfigured parking lot, and approximately 7 feet from the 
Church Street right-of-way property line for the reconfigured parking lot in order to 
construct a building addition to the Cook Memorial Library in an IB, Institutional 
Buildings District. 

 
ZBA 08-19 Gilfillan Callahan Nelson Architects, Authorized Agent for Cook Memorial 

Public Library District 
  413 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to increase the maximum permitted number of wall signs 

from 1 to 2 in order to re-locate 2 quasi-public signs on the Cook Memorial Library 
building in an IB, Institutional Buildings District. 

 
ZBA 08-28 Gilfillan Callahan Nelson Architects, Authorized Agent for Cook Memorial 

Public Library District 
  413 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum number of parking spaces from 62 to 

56 in an IB, Institutional Buildings District. 
 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that the petitioner is requesting approval for variations to 
reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space and increase the maximum number 
of permitted signs in order to construct a building addition with additional wall signage to the Cook 
Memorial Library located in an IB, Institutional Buildings District at 413 N. Milwaukee Avenue. 
 
Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner is proposing to expand the existing 34,842 square foot Cook 
Memorial Library with an additional 11,500 square feet of floor area to allow multiple community 
spaces, larger collections, additional technology, more reading areas, and study rooms.  The 
expansion will address current overcrowding conditions. 



Minutes of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 5 of 7 
 
Ms. Jan Behounek, 1600 Golf Road, Rolling Meadows, architect for the library, stated that the 
library today is overcrowded.  She stated that the proposed building addition will mostly serve a 
children’s area.  She stated that they are seeking to encroach into the minimum required Perimeter 
Landscaped Open Space and approval for a newly configured parking lot that will contain 56 parking 
spaces.  She stated that the pedestrian entrance is 20 feet tall.  She stated that the new building wing 
will not have windows on the west end facing Brainerd Avenue and will be heavily landscaped. 
 
Board Member Oakley stated that he is concerned about traffic on Brainerd Avenue.  He asked how 
much time does the library expect that each patron will need at the drive up service window.  Ms. 
Behounek stated that the service window will take a little longer to serve each patron than the book 
drop off window. 
 
Board Member Jaffe stated that he is concerned about the length of time required at the service 
window to serve each patron.  He stated that he is concerned about the traffic conflict presented by 
the proposed site plan.  He stated that consideration should be given to moving the new building 
wing to front Church Street and not Cook Avenue. 
 
Ms. Behounek stated that the current library programming locations are not conducive for any other 
building layout design.  She stated that they could move the proposed Brainerd Avenue curb cut 
driveway entrance further south. 
 
Board Member Jaffe asked if the service window is necessary.  Mr. Dan Armstrong, Library 
Director, stated that there is a need for the service window because of the loss of needed parking 
spaces.  He stated that the service window is useful for the elderly and parents with children in their 
vehicles. 
 
Board Member Howard stated he is concerned with the pedestrian traffic in conflict with the 
vehicular traffic moving through the parking lot. 
 
Ms. Behounek stated that signage will be used to help direct both types of traffic to reduce the 
movement conflicts. 
 
Board Member Howard asked for Zoning Code clarification for the vehicle stacking requirement.  
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the Zoning Code only addresses 
Financial Institutions and Eating Establishments with a stacking requirement, not Libraries. 
 
Mr. Armstrong stated that the library expects that not more than 2 to 3 minutes will be devoted to 
each patron at the drive-up service window.  He stated that the patron should call ahead of time prior 
to arriving at the service window in order to reduce the time at the window. 
 
Board Member Howard stated that he is concerned about the proposed removal of trees for this 
project. 
 
 



Minutes of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 6 of 7 
 
Mr. David McCullum, landscape architect for petitioner, stated that the comprehensive landscape 
plan includes a tree replacement program with similar tree species for those that are proposed to be 
removed.  
 
Board Member Howard stated that he would like to see hardier tree species for the tree replacements. 
He stated that he does not have a problem with the petitioner’s sign plan.  He stated that he does not 
agree with the proposed parking lot configuration.  He stated that he does not have a problem with 
the proposed encroachment into the Perimeter Landscaped Open Space. 
 
Board Member Robinson stated that public funds are being used for the proposed library 
improvements and that the location is in the center of Libertyville.  He stated that this is an important 
project for the Village.  He stated that the petitioner should submit floor plans.  He asked if the 
library expects a decrease in visitors to the Cook Memorial site when the Vernon Hills library is 
expanded.  Mr. Armstrong stated that the current demographics in library use is approximately 85% 
go to the Cook Memorial site and 15% go to the existing Vernon Hills site.  He stated that after both 
locations are complete with the planned improvements, he expects that he use may change to a 60% 
and 40% disparity.  He stated that the peak library use times are typically Monday evenings, most 
evenings after 6:00 p.m., and Sundays from 1:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked how far away are people expected to park from the library.  He 
stated that he does not like the proposed exit onto Brainerd Avenue.  He stated that an angled parking 
space layout is friendlier.  He asked if there will be bike racks.  Ms. Behounek stated that there will 
be bike racks. 
 
Board Member Robinson stated that a Church Street exit would be better.  He asked if there will ever 
be a second story.  Ms. Behounek stated that there are no plans for a second story. 
  
Board Member Hezner stated that the building addition location is good.  He stated that he supports 
the parking variation request.  He stated that the proposed use is compliant with the Comprehensive 
Plan.  He stated that he is supportive of the Perimeter Landscaped Open Space variation.  He stated 
that he supports the sign variation request as well.  He stated that the petitioner needs to submit a 
written response to the Standards for Variation.  He stated that the site plan as proposed provides a 
traffic circulation problem.  He stated that the curb cut entrance should be added to Church Street 
and that the Brainerd entrance should be an entrance only to serve the book drop window and 
children drop off.  He stated that he is concerned about the proposed depressed sidewalk at Cook 
Avenue across from the Chase Bank driveway.  He stated that the petitioner should submit floor 
plans.  He stated that he is concerned about the amount of landscaping proposed to be removed.  He 
stated that consideration should be given to the conflict between the trees and the parking lot 
lighting. 
 
Board Member Hezner stated that the plan has no sense of focus towards public entry with no 
defined pedestrian travel from the parking lot to the entrances.  He stated that the petitioner needs to 
demonstrate a better understanding of utilities servicing the structure and potential construction 



Minutes of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
Page 7 of 7 
 
logistics.  He stated that the petitioner needs to represent and demonstrate their knowledge of the 
comprehensive systems that affect the planning of their project. 
 
Board Member Hezner stated for the record that the proposed building design does not reflect the 
cultural importance of the building for the community on a prominent site in downtown Libertyville. 
 
Chairman Moore stated that the essential elements in the area and the public health and safety should 
be addressed in the Standards for the Variation. 
 
In the matters of ZBA 08-18, ZBA 08-19, and ZBA 08-28, Board Member Hezner moved, seconded 
by Board Member Howard, to continue these items to the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
ZBA 08-27 Warren Johnson Architects, Authorized Agent for William Seitz 
  540 Peterson Road 
 
 Request is for variations for signage for property located in a C-3, General Commercial 

District. 
 
The applicant requested that this item be continued to the December 8, 2008, Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 08-27, Board Member Robinson moved, seconded by Board Member Cotey, to 
continue this item to the December 8, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals meeting. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Board Member Cotey made a motion, seconded by Board Member Hezner, to adjourn the Zoning 
Board of Appeals meeting. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 11:25 p.m. 
 


